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THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AND

CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS 

EVIDENCE

OTTAWA, Thursday, November 26, 2009

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs, to which was referred Bill C-15, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to make related and consequential amendments to other acts, met this day at 10:45 a.m. to give consideration to the bill.

Senator Joan Fraser (Chair) in the chair.

The Chair:  Good morning, colleagues, I see a quorum.  This meeting of the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs is continuing our study of Bill C‑15, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to make related and consequential amendments to other Acts.
Our first witness this morning, who is joining us by videoconference, is Mr. Glen Greenwald of the Cato Institute.  Good morning, Mr. Greenwald.  Thank you very much for being with us.  
My name is Joan Fraser.  I am the chair of this committee.  I understand that you have an opening statement that you would like to make before we get to ask you questions.  The floor is yours.
Glen Greenwald, Cato Institute:    Thank you for inviting me to speak with you this morning.  I always excited about the prospect of being able to discuss drug decriminalization in Portugal, because any discussions of drug policy typically, by necessity, often includes a great deal of speculation.  It is often difficult to know what type of results will occur through changes in the law.  That is especially true when more significant or even radical changes are discussed.
In Portugal, we have a country which, back in 2001, enacted a fairly fundamental change to their drug policy law – decriminalization of all drugs.  One need not speculate about what the results would be from that kind of change because there is abundant empirical evidence that enables one to see what types of fears were justified, what were not and what benefits a country is able to receive when they enact that kind of a change.
I want to briefly describe what the law is, how it came into being and what the results were in a summary way.  I am then happy to listen to comments, take any questions and talk about whatever you think is most important.
The law in Portugal took effect July 1, 2001.  It was the first law in any western country to explicitly decriminalize drugs.  It used the word "decriminalization."  It applies to all drugs, hard and soft drugs, including cocaine, heroin, methamphetamines and synthetic drugs.  It expressly declares that it is no longer a criminal offence to acquire, use or possess any drugs for quantities of personal usage, which is defined as the quantity that the average individual would use over the course of 10 days.  
For any substances that fall into that category of personal usage, it is no longer a criminal offence; it is purely an administrative offence if one uses, possesses or acquires drugs.  Trafficking in drugs, possessing large quantities of drugs remains criminal, but personal usage is no longer a crime.  The citizen cannot be convicted or sent to a criminal court or punished criminally in any way.
Instead, if a police officer or other government official sees someone in the possession of or using drugs, they give them a citation.  Within 72 hours, that person is required to appear before what the Portuguese call a "dissuasion commission."  The only purpose of this dissuasion commission is to encourage the individual to seek counseling or other services if the commission and the individual both believe that doing so is necessary.
The way that this law came about, as one can imagine, was a controversial proposition at first, especially in a country like Portugal that is quite conservative and had a severe drug problem.  Instead of having the legislature debate, enact and adopt this change, they created a commission of purely apolitical experts.  They charged this commission with only one mandate, namely, to identify the policy that would be most effective in getting Portugal's extremely serious and worsening drug problem under control.  
The commission concluded that decriminalization would be that policy, and did so for several reasons which we can discuss.  Once that commission issued its report, it made it much easier for the Portuguese congress to enact and adopt those recommendations; and for the Portuguese president, in 2000, to then sign this law decriminalizing all drug usage, which took effect in 2001.
The only thing I will say about the results at the moment – and we can look at them more specifically; there is a lot of detailed analysis in the report that I prepared – is that the Portuguese had probably one of the worst problems with drug abuse and all drug-related pathologies, including crime, deaths and sexually transmitted diseases relating to drugs, of any country in the EU throughout the 1990s.  The more they criminalized, the worse the problem became.  
Since decriminalization, in virtually every category, Portugal is now near the top of states managing their drug problems when compared to other EU states.  While the proposition at first was controversial in Portugal, there is now a political consensus in Portugal that drug decriminalization has worked.  There are virtually no political parties, politicians or factions within the citizenry advocating a return to the criminalization scheme.  To me, that is quite a compelling testament to the efficacy of this law.
That is a bit of background that frames what has happened in Portugal.  I am happy to talk about anything specific that might interest you.
The Chair:  Thank you very much indeed.  Colleagues, I neglected to tell you that our witness, Mr. Greenwald, is joining us this morning from Rio de Janeiro, so we are doubly grateful.  Somehow it seems even more impressive to do this over such a long distance.
We go now to questions, beginning with Senator Nolin.
Senator Nolin:  Thank you, sir, for being with us this morning from far away.  We are studying a bill that is not exactly contemplating decriminalization or even softening the prohibition of controlled drugs.  I do not know if you have read the bill that we are studying, but the government is proposing a structured and quite vast implementation of mandatory minimum sentences.
I would like to hear from you about the state of the phenomenon of user traffickers in Portugal.  I know that the scheme that was adopted by the Portuguese government in July 2001 looked after users and you keep quite tough sentences for traffickers.  What about users who are trafficking to make money out of their trafficking?

Mr. Greenwald:  One of the issues that the commission that I described confronted when they considered all the options available to them, was the fact that Portugal was a signatory to numerous treaties that required there to be an ongoing prohibition under the law for drug usage in general, and specifically that there be criminal penalties for drug trafficking.

The only option that the commission took off the table in deciding what was the best approach was full legalization as opposed to decriminalization and also decriminalization for traffickers.  You do still have this anomaly in Portugal, as you pointed out, where it is perfectly legal or at least not criminal to purchase drugs.  Yet, some drugs remain a criminal offence.  

Drug policy makers will say that one of the best approaches for stemming the problem associated with drug trafficking is to reduce the demand for drugs.  Obviously the more drug addicts there are the bigger the market there is for drugs and the more drug traffickers thrive.  Therefore the Portuguese feel that they have been able to really make a dent in their drug traffickers ‑‑ not so much through the criminalization scheme that continues but instead by slowly, although rather inexorably, reducing the market and the demand on which drug traffickers thrive.  

You are correct that drug trafficking is still a criminal offence, it is still punished and it is still punished fairly harshly, but the number of prosecutions has declined rather steadily since 2001 as drug usage rates have stabilized and then decline as well. 

Senator Nolin:  Another aspect of the Canadian reality ‑‑ and it is probably the same in Portugal ‑‑ is medical use or self‑medicating use of cannabis.  It is a growing phenomenon in Canada.  We will hear witnesses later this morning who will talk about more in terms of the magnitude of that phenomenon in Canada.  Of course it deals with a few aspects of the controlling of drugs.  First, there is the production of it, which is really prohibited, but when it is done for medical reasons there is a different approach.  Of course, the Canadian population sees that from a different angle.

What is the state of that reality in Portugal?

Mr. Greenwald:  Drug usage for medical purposes, meaning drug treatments that are prescribed by a medical doctor, by a physician are legal.  It is regulated by the state to ensure that there is not abuse.  However, there are dispensaries that are regulated by the state to enable patients, cancer patients, people dealing with HIV‑related symptoms and other serious diseases and use physicians have degreed that narcotics will be able to address either the underlying condition or the symptoms are able to access it in a healthy, safe and clean environment.

That is not so much unique to Portugal.  I believe there is a broad consensus in the EU generally towards a trend of treating drugs generally much more as a health than a criminal issue.  Certainly Portugal adheres to and is in line with that consensus in allowing and legalizing drugs for medical usage and with fairly active regulatory involvement by the state.

Senator Nolin:  As you know cannabis, at least in Canada ‑‑ I do not know about Portugal ‑‑ cannot be regulated itself.  It is not a medicine.  However, it is widely use for medical purposes.  It is self‑medicating.  Of course we have a regulated approach for roughly fewer than 5,000 Canadians who are registering into the process, but the vast majority of Canadians who are using cannabis for medical reasons are doing it outside the regulated scheme.  Therefore the production of that cannabis is done outside that scheme and the use and the buying of that illegal medical marijuana is definitely not the black market as we can refer to structured organized crime, but it is definitely outside the purview of the law.

Do you have the same reality in Portugal and how do you deal with that?

Mr. Greenwald:  I am not certain whether there is active regulation of the growing of marijuana itself as opposed to its distribution.  I do not know the answer to that question.  I know that in the United States, in those states that have legalized medical marijuana, there are dispensaries that receive permits from the departments of health, which not only distribute marijuana but grow it as well exclusively for purposes of providing it to patients who have prescriptions.  However, I do not know whether that same process is used in Portugal. 

Senator Milne:  Mr. Greenwald, in Portugal the model of legalization of drugs for users is based, I would say, probably ‑‑ and I am asking you if it is ‑‑ on a fairly urban population and not a rural or remote population.  Is that one of the reasons that it has worked well there?

One of our big problems in Canada is that the use or abuse of drugs in Canada's remote areas ‑‑ that is in the Far North, amongst our Aboriginal people of both the Far North and the northern parts of the provinces ‑‑ is where I believe the drug problem is the greatest in Canada.  How can the Portuguese model possibly address Canada's problems, particularly in very remote communities?

Mr. Greenwald:  I would not accept the premise that the impetus for decriminalization was rooted in an urban setting.  Nor would I necessarily accept the premise that the success has been confined to the urban setting.

Portugal is a country that has long been plagued by some of the worst poverty in the entire EU.  The only real cosmopolitan or urban area in Portugal is Lisbon, which is a fairly traditional and standard western European capital.  There have been serious drug abuse problems dispersed fairly equally throughout the country.  There are 18 provinces or districts and resources have been distributed fairly equally, recognizing that the problem has not just existed in Lisbon.

Let me highlight for you the rationale behind decriminalization was on the part of this commission because it translates fairly well, both in terms of urban and rural settings.

There were three main rationales as to why decriminalization would work.  The first was that government drug policy officials who were responsible for education services, providing clinics, and so on, to the drug using population found that the greatest obstacle they faced was that when the state harshly criminalizes drug usage and the government is seen as a threat to arrest people and to put them in prison, there is a wall that is erected between the government and the citizenry that makes it difficult for the government and for government officials to be able to communicate with and provide services and education to the citizenry because the government reflects the threat of imprisonment rather than the promise of help and assistance.  They thought that that impediment, as long as it existed, would prevent effective drug treatment policies in terms of reaching the vulnerable population.

Second, when drugs are harshly criminalized under the law, it create a stigma that affects the drug user, so that the drug user is fearful of being identified as a drug user rather than being willing to cooperate with those trying to get help for that person.  It makes the person want to hide, deceive and lie, rather than seek out and be receptive to messaging and servicing. 

A third aspect was simply a resource aspect; namely, so much money is being spent on prostitution efforts, interdiction and police efforts to prosecute, arrest traffickers and users, and to imprison them.  That money would be better spent on drug counseling professionals and on clinics throughout the country rather than just in Lisbon.  Interestingly enough, it was the last factor that really enabled a nation‑wide improvement because governments will often allocate resources to urban settings because that is where the most drug usage is.  They will neglect more distant and rural settings.  Freeing up so much money through decriminalization has enabled them provide a much more nation‑wide infrastructure that helped drug addicts become non‑users.

Senator Milne:  You are saying that this is working in Portugal because of the distribution of resources throughout rural and remote areas of the country; is that right?

Mr. Greenwald:  I think that is one reason.  It is hard to quantify.  However, if you talk to Portuguese drug officials, they would say that mere distribution of resources is insufficient if you are not also finding a way to make the citizenry more willing to avail themselves of those resources through more effective education campaigns and offering assurances that identifying themselves as having a problem will not result in stigma and possibly arrest.

However, I would certainly say that their ability to distribute their resources more effectively, more equally and with a wider scheme has enhanced the efficacy of their programs.

Senator Milne:  How many clinics are there scattered throughout Portugal? 

Mr. Greenwald:  I am not sure of the exact number.  It is in my report.  It has increased substantially since 2001, in part because the demand is greater and partly because the resources are greater.  However, I cannot tell you offhand even a range of how many, but it is in my report.

Senator Campbell:  Thank you for being with us today.

At one point in Canada, we were looking at decriminalization of marijuana.  The issues in that case were, first, whether it sends a mixed message; and, second, whether it helps those people involved in organized crime and supplying marijuana, in this case.  I would be interested to know how that was looked at in Portugal and how they were able to come to grips with it.

Mr. Greenwald:  That was one of the principal arguments, as one would expect it to be.  It is certainly a rational objection that, if a state goes from a scheme of criminalization to decriminalization, it will transmit a message, particularly to more questionable factions in the citizenry – the youth and adolescents – that the government now considers drug usage to be permissible.  

However, if you look at what has happened in Portugal, I think it is a very hard to make a case that such has taken place.  It has not happened, in part, because there are demographic groups, such as the 15 to 19 age group, which has not only seen a relative decrease in drug usage since 2001 but a decrease in absolute numbers.  By relative, I mean relative to other EU states, although that has happened.  Therefore, the percentage of individuals in these crucial demographic groups of 15 to 19 and 11 to 15 has actually decreased in absolute numbers in terms of those who use drugs, in general, as well as those who use marijuana and also cocaine.

It may be counterintuitive but, first, it is empirically true.  Second, the government is not sending a message that if you do X you will be arrested, prosecuted and imprisoned.  Instead, it is able to communicate that doing X can be dangerous, whether it is taking marijuana or experimenting with drugs.  If you do it, it is important that it be done responsibly.  If there are concerns about addiction, there are clinics and counseling services the government provides.  If somebody is found taking drugs, instead of sending them before a criminal judge who might sentence them to a harsh criminal penalty – or even face the threat of that – they are put instead before health professionals, whose goal is not to punish the person but to encourage them to seek out counseling. 

That is a much more effective way of preventing and deterring the population from using drugs irresponsibly, and from using them in the first place, than a criminalization scheme might be.  The proof is in the pudding when you look at what has happened.

Senator Campbell:  Are you familiar with the Swedish model?

Mr. Greenwald:  No, I am not.  I vaguely know about other EU states but nothing that would be worthwhile observing.

Senator Campbell:  Thank you very much. 

Senator Joyal:  I would like to come back to note 2 of the brief we received where I read:  "The minimum possession that the act provides is defined as the average individual quantity sufficient for 10 days' usage for one person."

Could you tell me what that is all about?  Is it one, two or three plants of marijuana?  Is it five plants?  I bet it was the administrative tribunal that defined that minimum quantity because that quantity is the barometer for an administrative offence versus a criminal offence.  Therefore, I bet there is a much clearer definition than the general text I read in your brief.

Mr. Greenwald:  The law itself does not provide any greater clarity on the distinction between a criminal versus an administrative offence.  The law simply defines a criminal offence as being what you just referred to, which is an amount greater than the average individual usage for a period of 10 days.

Courts have developed definitions; criminal courts have in Portugal.  There are cases for each substance which, based on an expert analysis, assess how much marijuana an average user would be likely to consume over the course of 10 days.  I cannot tell you what the amounts are that end up being criminal for each substance.  However, the intent is to encompass addicts as well as people who are addicted to marijuana and use it every day.

The issue is not how much the individual citizen uses every day; the issue is the amount an addict – somebody who is using a substance every day – would likely use.  The intent is simply to distinguish those people who are really acquiring it for personal usage versus people who intend to sell and distribute it.

The precise definitions of how the law should be applied are developed by courts and judicial opinions using expert testimony.  However, that is the intent of the law and that is why the law is not any clearer.

Senator Joyal:  Marijuana is the most common drug, so let us use that as an example.  According to the jurisprudence, could you tell us what the minimum quantity is that the court has defined as being a criminal offence?  Do you have that answer?

Mr. Greenwald:  I do not know the answer to that.  For a long time, the substance most cited was not marijuana but heroin, which is the substance Portugal had the greatest problem with.  It is now cocaine.  Marijuana is second.

However, I do not know what courts have said exactly about how much marijuana brings you above the 10‑day point.  Those are judicial cases that I looked at but I do not recall the exact quantities.

Senator Joyal:  Let me move to another question.  

Since decriminalization, have you noticed an increase in drug use since addicted people no longer have to hide themselves away?  Have you any studies that show that Portugal has become ‑‑ I will use an expression that our American friends like to use ‑‑ a "safe haven" for drug use?  Have you noticed in Portugal either an increase among the Portuguese or a flow of other Europeans into the country to consume drugs?

Mr. Greenwald:  The evidence definitively proves that neither of those things happened.  One argument made by opponents of decriminalization in 2000 was that Lisbon would become a drug haven for tourists -- European youth would travel to Lisbon to use drugs.  The evidence is clear that this has not happened.  There is a breakdown by nationality on page eight of my report of individuals cited for drug use, possession and acquisition under the law.  Roughly 98.5 per cent of the individuals cited are citizens of Portugal.  Very few are citizens from any other EU countries.  That fear has simply never materialized.

The other aspect of your question in terms of whether individuals have taken to using drugs more readily because they can now be more open is also quite clear.  As I indicated earlier, usage rates for almost every narcotic substance through the 1990s showed Portugal was one of the worst when compared to other EU states.  They are now one of the best in virtually every category.  Page 21 of the report shows that Portugal has the lowest prevalence rate for cannabis use of any European Union state from the years 2001 to 2005.  Page 23 indicates that they have one of the lowest usage rates for school-aged citizens of any country in Europe.  Page 24 shows that there are countries with six or seven times greater usage of cocaine than Portugal.  This includes some of the states that have the harshest criminalization schemes in all of Europe including Estonia, the U.K. and Ireland.  

You see a reverse correlation to what your question suggests.  Decriminalization has allowed Portugal to bring their addict population out of the crevasses, out of the darkness and out of the fear to be able to offer more effective services, counselling and harm reduction programs.  The problems that were the most severe in Europe throughout the 1990s have become among the most manageable.

Senator Joyal:  Let us talk about the suppliers of drugs ‑‑ organized crime.  Did you see any changes in the way organized crime operated their business before 2001 and if the government has been more efficient in fighting organized crime to limit the increase of suppliers?

Mr. Greenwald:  We touched on this earlier.  The view of Portuguese drug and police officials on that question is that there are two ways to deal effectively with drug traffickers.  First is through law enforcement and interdiction efforts.  Second is through reducing demand for their product.  Drug policy makers, police and federal drug officials in Portugal feel strongly that by reducing the level of addiction and by making counselling services more readily available and more effective, they have been able to stem the tide of drug trafficking and organized crime in a way that other EU states have failed to do.

Having said that, it is a fairly subjective assessment and is difficult to quantify.  Page 15 of my report shows figures for the number of individuals convicted and sentenced for dealing, distributing drugs and/or using drugs.  The number of convictions for people trafficking drugs has declined somewhat steadily since 2001.  It has remained relatively steady through 2006, 2007 and 2008 as drug trafficking problems and organized crime steadily worsened throughout other EU states.  

I do not want to overstate this case.  I do not think that Portugal has had great successes in undermining the influence and power of organized crime syndicates and drug traffickers.  However, by managing and reducing the demand, they have been able to undermine somewhat the effect of organized crime and drug traffickers.

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Carignan ‑‑ La consommation personnelle) (après anglais) 

Le sénateur Carignan : La consommation personnelle est décriminalisée, mais il y a quand même une sanction administrative qui peut être une amende pour la possession de drogue. C'est exact? 

(Mr. Greenwald: If the commission finds...)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French ‑‑ Senator Carignan ‑‑ de drogue. C'est exact?) 

Mr. Greenwald:  If the commission finds that there is a problem of addiction and a repeated pattern of offences, there are theoretically administrative sanctions available such as:  imposing fines; suspending licences for certain professions such as pilots or medical doctors; and prohibiting the individual from frequenting night clubs, for example, where drug use is notorious.  

It almost never happens that those kinds of sanctions are imposed.  The commissions do not have the ability to punish people for non‑compliance with the sanctions.  However, the law allows administrative sanctions to be imposed by the commission if they find a pattern of repeat offences and a problem with addiction.

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Carignan ‑‑ Vous avez dit que les) 

(après anglais) 

Le sénateur Carignan : Vous avez dit que les infractions pour trafic de drogue étaient punies sévèrement. Pouvez‑vous nous donner le type de sanction dans les cas de production, d'importation et d'exportation?

(Mr. Greenwald: When I say “quite harshly” . . .) 

(anglais suit) 

 (Following French ‑‑ Senator Carignan ‑‑ d'importation et d'exportation?) 

Mr. Greenwald:  When I say "quite harshly," I mean that prison sentences are imposed.  I do not mean to imply that Portugal has a particularly harsh prison sentence relative to the rest of the Europe generally.  Traffickers may be sentenced to 10 or 15 years, or even more, in prison if they are part of organized crime units.  I believe sentences for traffickers in the middle range can range from six months to five years.  It is common for traffickers found guilty of moving large quantities of drugs, especially hard drugs such as heroin and cocaine, to be sentenced to prison terms ranging from a couple of years to a decade or more in prison.  

The harsh prison terms I referenced are in line with what other European countries impose.

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Carignan ‑‑ Au cours des dernières) 

(après anglais) 

Le sénateur Carignan : Au cours des dernières années, au Portugal, y a‑t‑il eu une augmentation du taux de criminalité pour d'autres types de crime comme les meurtres, par exemple? 

(anglais suit, 1130)

(following French in 1120 – Senator Carignan: de crime comme les meurtres, par exemple?) 

Mr. Greenwald:  Yes, the overall crime rate has increased somewhat, but not extraordinarily; I should confine my answer to Lisbon, where most the crime occurs.

One of the difficulties in trying to figure out if drug-related crimes have decreased is trying to classify a particular crime as drug related.  If there is a mugging or a burglary, to know whether that is drug motivated is very difficult.

Law enforcement officers believe that if you reduce demand and the amount of addictions, you reduce the amount of drug-related crime by definition.  However, Portugal, and especially Lisbon, has seen a modest but steady increase in overall crime over the last five years.

Senator Baker:  I am particularly interested in how the decriminalization law came into being in Portugal.  

As you are aware, when you look at governments in Canada, the United States or in many other nations, the politicians are the ones who create the policy.  They run in elections and, based on their policies, they stand.  

It is difficult for change to take place in a political system in which we continually must respond to voters' wishes.  Sometimes, when desired changes are needed, an exterior body would make a recommendation and the politicians would accept the recommendation.

The Portuguese system of government, when this was brought in, in 2000, I do not think is dissimilar to our government here or in the United States.  After reading your report, it appears to be a council of ministers who responded to a commission of experts who then went to Parliament with the blessing of the president.  I am interested in that process of how such a radical change could take place in Portugal, but not take place in other nations.

Mr. Greenwald:  That is an important question and an interesting process to look at.  You are absolutely right in general that it is difficult for a political body that stands for election to effect radical change, certainly with regard to drug policy.  

Portugal, in particular, happens to be an extremely conservative country when it comes to questions of social policy.  The Catholic Church plays a significant role not just in religious matters, but in political ones as well.  They had very conservative approaches to things like abortion and homosexuality.  It is not the kind of European Union country where one would expect to find experimentation with drug policy.

The impetus behind it and what enabled it was, first, the fact that there with a serious crisis in Portugal throughout the 1990s.  With their poverty, they had an out‑of‑control drug problem that was worsening by the year.  

I included some statistics that show how precipitous, for example, drug-related mortality was.  There were addicts laying in the streets, not just in Lisbon but even mid‑size cities that were more suburban and even rural.

There was a real desperation, because the more criminalization schemes were pursued, the worse the problem became.  That climate of desperation enabled options that would otherwise be off the table.  The population was more open to them.

The most important aspect of it was what you alluded to; namely, there was a commission created that was entirely made up of apolitical professionals – psychologists, psychiatrists, health professionals, lawyers, professors – people who were there to put together a purely empirical report without any regard to ideology or morality.  The question was simply from an empirical perspective; how can we arrest the worsening problems with drug abuse and their related pathologies as a government?  

It was only once this commission went off and did its work for 18 months and then issued a report that laid out all of the rationale, which I alluded to earlier, as to why decriminalization would uniquely enable these problems to be managed; only then were the ministers, for example, able to get behind that proposal, which then enabled there to be momentum in the parliament for the law to pass and for the president to sign it.  I think without that, it is inconceivable that it ever would have occurred.

To underscore that point, in the United States, there is some modest debate over drug policy for the first time in a very long time, based on the recognition that harsh criminalization schemes are clearly failing.  There is a senator from a very conservative state, Virginia – Jim Webb, a Democrat – who is in his first term.  He is a fairly vulnerable incumbent because he is a Democrat and he has only been in office for three years.  

He has stood up and said that we have a major and fundamental problem with the way we are treating drug offences – the number of people that we are imprisoning and the vast sums of money we are wasting in futility on prosecution and criminalization approaches.  Rather than introduce a bill to change the law or to decriminalize certain substances, he instead introduced a law to create a commission of the type that Portugal used that would study these problems and make recommendations after a period of 12 to 18 months.  

There is significant momentum now, even in the very conservative United States Senate, for that kind of a study.  I think depoliticizing the question and turning it into an empirical matter is an absolute prerequisite to debating and discussing rational changes.  That is what Portugal was able to do.

Senator Baker:  That answers my question and puts the matter into perspective as far as potential changes are concerned that are as radical as Portugal has.  Thank you very much.

The Chair:  I have a couple of questions before we free you.

In terms of cost, when Portugal freed up those resources by decriminalizing to be able to put the resources into counselling, et cetera, has it spent more, less or about the same money in total as far as you know?

Mr. Greenwald:  You mean "total" in terms of treatment, counselling and prevention?

The Chair:  Yes.  Does the treatment end up costing more, less or the same as the previous efforts put into law enforcement?  Do you know?

Mr. Greenwald:  I know that roughly 80 per cent of the savings that Portugal experienced have been redirected directly into things like counselling, harm reduction and the like.  I know they have spent other monies as well, as they have seen it work.  

If you are asking if it is simply a dollar to dollar trade-off between the savings from law enforcement and the programs relating to counselling and harm reduction, the answer is no.  They have ended up spending some amount of money more as they have seen it work.  Portugal has severe budgetary constraints, so the amount of money that went into counselling that was not directly from saved money on decriminalization is not substantial, but it does exist.  They have spent more as the years have gone by.

The Chair:  My second question relates to the fact that in Canada, we love to sit around and talk about the constitution.  In this particular federation, the criminal law is a federal matter and health care and social services are largely provincial matters, although the feds do send money.

Portugal is a unitary state, so I am assuming that both the criminal law and the health and social services systems are under the authority of the national parliament or the national government.  There is no municipal element that kicks in there.

Mr. Greenwald:  That is correct.  The policies are set by the federal agency.  Of course, they have administrative provinces that assist administratively, and they have some degree of autonomy in terms of where the resources go and how the commissions are established.

However, there is a centralized body that determines both drug and legal issues, as well as health and resource issues.  That enables them to coordinate those two things very well.

The Chair:  Mr. Greenwald, thank you very much indeed.  It has been extremely interesting and very helpful.  You have given us a perspective we have not previously heard.  We are very grateful to you.

Mr. Greenwald:  I appreciate the opportunity.

(French follows ‑‑ The Chair:  Nous reprenons la séance..) 

(après anglais)

(La séance reprend.)

La présidente : Nous reprenons la séance sur l’étude du projet de loi C‑15, Loi modifiant la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances et apportant des modifications connexes et corrélatives à d'autres lois.

 Nous accueillons maintenant du Centre canadien de lutte contre l'alcoolisme et les toxicomanies, M. Michel Perron, premier dirigeant, Mme Rita Notarandrea, première dirigeante adjointe, Amy Porath‑Waller, conseillère principale en recherche et politique et Rebecca Jesseman, conseillère en recherche et politique.

(Mrs. Chair : Thank you all very much for being with us...)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French ‑‑ The Chair ‑‑ ...conseileir en researche and politique.)

Thank you all very much for being with us today, and we are glad to have you.  I assume Mr. Perron leads off.

Michel Perron, Chief Executive Officer, Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse:  Thank you.  It is a wonderful opportunity to be here.  I appreciate the indulgence of the community of having my colleagues be here.  I guarantee my presentation will be exponentially better with them being here.  I have prepared text that I will go through.  It has been circulated to you as well.

The CCSA welcomes the opportunity to appear before this committee on Bill C‑15.  As you may know, we are an arm's‑length organization, governed by a volunteer board of directors and established by an act of Parliament in 1988 to provide national leadership and evidence‑informed analysis and advice.

We would like to provide a brief overview of the evidence based on three areas:  The prevalence of illicit drug use in Canada; drug treatment courts; and use of mandatory or coerced treatments.

Recent data on the prevalence of drug use among Canadians is available through the 2008 Canadian Alcohol and Drug Use Monitoring Survey, which we call CADUMS.  This survey, conducted by Health Care, provides information on alcohol and illicit drug use among Canadians aged 15 and over.  In the document, Figure 1 provides a graphic illustration of the rates of past year drug use reported by survey respondents.

According to the survey, cannabis is the most widely used illicit drug in Canada with approximately 11 per cent of Canadians aged 15 years and older reporting use of the drug in the past year.  Hallucinogens are the next most commonly reported at 23.1 per cent, followed by cocaine at 1.6 per cent, ecstasy at 1.4 per cent, amphetamines at 1.1 and methamphetamine at 0.2 per cent.  Table 1 provides a more detailed statistical breakdown, as well as a comparison with rates obtained in 2004 through the Canadian Addiction Survey, CAS.

It should be noted that although CADUMS was modeled on the CAS, due to some differences in survey methodology, comparisons between the two should only provide a rough indicator of trends and strict comparisons should be used with caution.

Two key observations can also be made when considering prevalence data.  First, there is a great deal of variance of prevalence of use, according to a range of factors such as geography, age and gender.  For example, the table clearly illustrates that youth, or those between the ages of 15 to 24, are significantly more likely to report past year use of illicit substances than people over the age of 24. 

CADUMS also asked respondents about harms associated with illicit drug use.  Overall, 2.7 per cent of respondents reported experiencing at least one harm associated with illicit drug use in the past year.  Among those who used illicit drugs themselves, this rate increased to 21.7 per cent and 37.5 per cent, if cannabis was excluded.  

To provide you with a brief international context, figure 2 compares past year prevalence of illicit substance use in Canada, the United States, Australia, England and Wales.  Unfortunately, Canada ranks highest in terms of past year use of cannabis.  However, Canada is comparable to or lower than other countries in terms of past year use of cocaine, heroin, ecstasy and amphetamines. 

The Chair:  Mr. Perron, could I interrupt you?  The written text before me says "lifetime" and you said "past year."

Mr. Perron:  Past year is correct.  I am sorry; I thought that text had been amended.  To be clear for the record, the final paragraph, where it says "As you can see, Canada ranks highest in terms of past year use," is correct, and further on it would also be past year.

The Chair:  Thank you. 

(French follows ‑‑ Mr. Perron:  Treatment obligatoire est imposee.)

(après anglais)(M. Perron) 

En ce qui a trait aux traitements obligatoires et imposés, dans son invitation à comparaître, le comité s'est montré intéressé à en savoir plus sur le traitement obligatoire. De nombreuses études ont été faites sur l'efficacité du traitement imposé tant du point de vue de la réadaptation des contrevenants que de la consommation de substances. De manière générale les données montrent que la structure des programmes, par exemple les programmes factuels, et un personnel qualifié sont de meilleurs indicateurs de la réussite que la motivation du client. Ainsi la recherche a montré que les programmes de réadaptation s'adressant aux automobilistes reconnus coupables de conduite avec facultés affaiblies ont un effet bénéfique sur le taux de récidive.

Pour ce qui est des tribunaux de traitement de la toxicomanie. Le CCLAT favorise un aspect accru aux services et soutien liés à la consommation.

Les données montrent clairement que les personnes ayant des démêlés avec le système de justice pénal risquent davantage d'avoirs des antécédents d'abus de substances. Pendant le reste de notre présentation, nous parlerons donc de l'ajout proposé des articles 10(4) et 10(5) dans le projet de loi C‑15. 

Le comité a entendu bon nombre d'informations et débat sur le rôle global et l'efficacité des TTT. Plutôt que de revenir sur ce débat, je voudrais mentionner certains éléments touchant les pratiques exemplaires en traitement qui pourraient guider les délibérations du comité. 

Tout d'abord, les TTT ne sont pas en mesure de surmonter les obstacles que présente la diversité canadienne. Sur le plan géographique, les personnes accusées dans des villes autres que les six centres urbains actuellement dotés d'un TTT n'ont tout simplement pas accès à ce service.

La semaine dernière, le comité à entendu James Bonta qui a abordé le principe du risque, du besoin et de la réceptivité dans les traitements efficaces des contrevenants. Les TTT font preuve d'une réceptivité particulièrement pauvre par rapport aux clients aux antécédents divers comme les femmes, les Premières nations, les Inuits et les jeunes. 

Ensuite, il faudrait revoir les politiques des TTT et celles des partenaires communautaires pour les adapter au profil de la clientèle. Comme les petits trafiquants de la rue sont assez faciles à intercepter par les policiers, ils se retrouvent souvent avec de longs antécédents criminels, parfois marqués de violence, ce qui les rend inadmissibles au programme. 

Il est donc crucial que l'admissibilité au programme tienne compte de la réalité et de la clientèle potentielle afin de répondre à ses besoins.

Enfin, le CCLAT se joint à d'autres témoins pour demander la réalisation d'évaluation de programme complète et à la méthodologie rigoureuse. Étant donné les coûts des infrastructures et les coûts opérationnels substantiels des TTT, ce modèle de prestation de services doit faire la preuve de son efficacité et de sa valeur par rapport aux frais encourus, et de sa supériorité sur les autres approches destinées aux personnes ayant des problèmes de drogue qui les poussent vers la criminalité. 

Au cœur même de l'évaluation se trouve la définition de succès. Selon l'article 10(5),  un contrevenant n'a pas à purger des peines minimales obligatoires s'il termine un programme avec succès. 

Les TTT estiment habituellement qu'un programme est réussi après environ trois mois d'abstinence. La recherche actuelle montre toutefois qu'il est préférable d'aborder la consommation de substances comme un défi à long terme. On considère de moins en moins la rechute comme un échec du traitement. On voit plutôt la participation dans les services après une rechute comme une preuve de réussite tant sur le plan personnel que systématique. Si le projet de loi proposé est adopté, le CCLAT propose qu'on définisse le succès en fonction des progrès faits dans un laps de temps établi par le tribunal et des plans d'intervention individualisés, créés lors d'une évaluation et d'un dépistage factuel.

(Mr. Perron: With respect to provincial...)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French ‑‑ Mr. Perron continuing ‑‑ d'un dépistage factuel.)

With respect to provincial treatment options, the proposed section 10 (4) of the act also includes a provision for attending treatment
.  CCSA believes this option is necessary given the lack of national coverage offered by drug treatment courts.  It comes as no surprise that there are currently significant gaps in treatment capacity across Canada that that will pose barriers to any increase in clients referred from the criminal justice system.

Many community-level programs exclude clients for whom treatment participation is a condition under the criminal justice system.  As discussed by James Bonta and Guy Bourgon 
in their testimony, many community service providers that work with criminal justice system clients may not have the expertise needed to deal with their complex needs in an evidence‑based fashion.  Complex substance use requires a continuum of services and supports in areas such as housing and mental health.

The services available in Canada vary considerably from one location to another.  The inconsistency in access to programs that meet offender needs is, therefore, not limited to drug treatment courts.  For example, the North is an area of particular interest to Senator Watt.  He may be aware of the fact that there are currently no treatment facilities in Nunavut.  Inuit clients must travel to Ottawa to reach culturally appropriate programs.  They will have limited, if any, follow up options when returning to their communities.

Unfortunately, we do not have a clear picture of what services are available or how many people are currently accessing them across Canada.  As I mentioned, there is tremendous variability in accessibility, quality and nature.  These challenges as well as recommendations for addressing them are included in the report A Systems Approach to Substance Use in Canada:  Recommendations for a National Treatment Strategy
, which is included in the kit provided to you.  The strategies based on the concept of client‑centred care are provided through system level coordination and collaboration.  

Finally, we need to be cognizant of the fact that treatment is primarily a provincial and territorial jurisdiction.  The national treatment strategy is based on an integrated approach developed to reflect a broad range of jurisdictional considerations.  

It is important to acknowledge the funding that has been provided for treatment under the National Anti‑Drug Strategy
, particularly through Health Canada's Drug Treatment Funding Program
.  Assistance funding provided to the provinces and territories by Health Canada directly supports the capacity development recommended in the national treatment strategy.  In other words, there is a plan and we are trying to mobilize it.  

However, we must recognize there is considerable work to be done.  We, therefore, encourage strongly that governments work strongly with provinces and territories to ensure that the treatment capacity needed to support Bill C‑15 is in place.

Although the intention of the proposed section 10 (4) is to ensure that offenders requiring treatment can do so outside of the prison system, we also need to recognize there are those who are not eligible for that.  Treatment options for those within the prison system are particularly limited at the provincial and territorial levels.  These services need to be considered in an integral component to develop an overall system capacity.

In conclusion, Bill C‑15 can be interpreted as a means of promoting access to treatment for those who need it.  However, CCSA would like to emphasize that substance use is primarily a health and social issue.  We recognize that the criminal justice system is a common access point for substance use assessment and intervention.  We welcome opportunities to divert criminal justice system clients with treatment needs into services that can better meet their needs.  As a result of that, CCSA recommends that we develop a real-time monitoring of treatment capacity to evaluate the efficacy and impact of Bill C‑15 if it is enacted.  That is something I would like to unbundle in Q and A session if we could.

Thank you for your time and for this committee's ongoing dedication to investigating this matter thoroughly.  I know that you have received a lot of testimony giving polarizing views.  You have a difficult task ahead of you.  

Tremendous progress has been made in Canada in many areas including the development of a national treatment strategy, harmonization of different orders of government and the not‑for‑profit and private sector working together.  That is something we can leverage as we move ahead.  There is massive work to complete, sure but it is a far better situation than we were in five years ago.  That is something for the committee to consider and that we would be happy to unpack for you at an appropriate time at a later date.

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Nolin ‑‑ Dans un premier temps)

(après anglais)

Le sénateur Nolin : Dans un premier temps, j'ai une question ou deux au sujet du traitement.

(Sen. Nolin: You or your colleagues...) 

(anglais suit) 

 (Following French ‑‑ Senator Nolin continuing ‑‑ sujet du traitement.) 

You or your colleagues may answer.  I want to focus on that famous word "success."  I have a problem with that word because it is very subjective.  I would prefer not to see that word as long as the individual is completing a treatment program offered by federal or provincial law.  Of course, the judge would be the ultimate referee of treatment completion.  

What is your opinion if we were to suppress the phrase "avec succès" in the proposed section 10(5)?

Mr. Perron:  My colleagues can answer about the variability of what this word "success" means.  It is highly subjective and interpreted in different ways.

Senator Nolin:  As you know, subjective words like that in law are a problem.

Mr. Perron:  Exactly.  You have already noted from your witnesses that there is a vast difference of opinion among the witnesses themselves.

Senator Nolin:  Exactly.

Mr. Perron:  It is important to know that treatment works.  If the premise of this bill is to help those in need of treatment and it provides a pathway to credible, evidence based services, it can work for them.  That is the first point I want to make to ensure committee members have a level of confidence that it can work if we are referring people to the system.

We know a chronic relapsing condition prohibits the neat definition of "success" with regard to how we operationlize it.  For those who need it, having the adequate systems and pathways to it and the capacity to meet those is primordial in terms of how we define success.   

Senator Nolin:  I will say more about why I am afraid of the word "success."  You referred to total abstinence in your testimony.

I know you know much more than us on that, but I am afraid that someone could read that as total abstinence over six months or a year.  We know that in some areas with some individuals it would be a problem.  I do not think we really want that.  We want someone who accepts first to go through a process to find a solution to his or her problems.

That is why I have a problem with the word "success."

Rebecca Jesseman, Research and Policy Advisor, Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse:  I can speak to that a bit especially using the Vancouver drug court as an example.  I know that the DTC in Vancouver has both program completers and program graduates.  A program graduate is someone who has achieved four months of abstinence as well as a series of other health and social achievements, such as housing stability and lifestyle improvements.  That is considered a graduate, but you can be a program completer without necessarily having all the criteria required to graduate.

In this legislation, whether both program completers and graduates would be defined as successful is open to interpretation, so that is one area we would like to respectfully recommend that the Senate look at putting in some additional guidelines, because we also know from best practice in treatment that treatment pathways need to be catered to individual needs.  If we try to impose universal criteria on all offenders with a very complex diversity of needs, evidence‑based practice will not be respected.

Senator Nolin:  We heard many witnesses, and you referred to the variety of options.  They all said that there was no "one size fits all" portrait of a treatment and the treatment must be tailored for whoever is presenting in the system.  Do you agree with that? 

Ms. Jesseman:  I agree.

Senator Nolin:  That is why, Mr. Perron, in your opinion, we are moving in the right direction in the treatment of area of substance abuse.

Mr. Perron:  Absolutely.  We often speak in these ephemeral terms, so to give a real life example, we had a speaker at our conference last week in Halifax Mr. Christopher
 Kennedy Lawford.  You might have heard of his family ‑‑ the Kennedys.  He had a heroin addiction for many years.  He is been 22 years clean, but it took him nine years to get there.  He speaks very eloquently about recovery.  He said he failed repeatedly along those nine years but it got him to where he could be sober.  

The point is that even someone with the wealth and access to resources as a Kennedy in the United States, with all the reams of services, it takes time.  It takes a lot of work, and there has to be a caring support system based on evidence, based on key principles of engagement as they are in the National Treatment Strategy to reach out to that individual.  Absolutely we need a tailored process that is patient but yet forward‑looking and allows a person to make his own journey but understanding that abstinence, at the end of the day, is a goal.  Someone like Mr. Lawford gives a perspective as to how that can play out. 

The Chair:  One cannot rationally expect the law to say success will come after nine years or ten years or whatever, so if we were to write in guidelines, they might be useful.  They might indeed be very useful and contribute to justice, but they would also, in a sense, have to be artificial in that we would suggest that the judge would set some kind of realistic, in terms of the law, deadline that might not be realistic in terms of patterns of addiction.  It is a bit of a conundrum.

Mr. Perron:  I would agree entirely.  Speaking to the types of relationship with the treatment program that you can describe as opposed to the timeline, the only reason I mentioned Mr. Kennedy Lawford is to give a real life example.  Some people after one intervention can be a changed person and go on to abstinence.  There is an entire scale.  The challenge before you as parliamentarians is to try to find language that accommodates access to a system and to a treatment process that is responsive, and some measure of marker for the judge to allow for this success to continue.  We could probably come up with language at some point if that is helpful if you are looking at guidelines, and we would turn to the National Treatment Strategy which has been pulled together by the provinces and territories and ourselves as to where to go in that regard.

Senator Nolin:  Drug treatment courts have experience dealing with social analysis of individual where they are sentencing.  The way it is written, if we get rid of the word "success," they will have ample latitude because they decide if the sentence will be given, if the treatment is completed.  They will from that, I think, deduct that they are in charge and will decide what fits.  "Am I convinced that he went through this treatment and completed the treatment and he is on a good path?"  One individual needs to make that decision.  It needs to be the judge.

Mr. Perron:  This is not just any program.  Obviously the act is specific.  It is drug treatment courts and those programs accredited by provinces.  It is not willy‑nilly.

Senator Nolin:  We have access to both now.

Mr. Perron:  By the same token, many of the aggravating circumstances listed in the bill are primary means of exclusion for the drug treatment courts.  That is an issue in and of itself.

Senator Nolin:  I want to move into the medical use of marijuana in terms of prevalence. 

The Chair:  That is a new topic.

Senator Nolin:  I can wait.

The Chair:  You will be on the second round.

Senator Wallace:  Thank you for the presentation.  Mr. Perron, I notice in page 4 of your presentation, under the heading of prevalence and harms, there is some statistical analysis with respect to the harms with respect to the drug use.  Are there any other studies or is there other evidence‑informed cost analysis that your organization has undertaken that has attempted to quantify the harms of illicit drug use in Canadian society, say in regards to health care costs or work productivity costs?

Mr. Perron:  We have, senator, and in fact we actually came out in 2002 with the second The
 Costs of Substance Abuse in Canada report.  I am not sure if a copy was included in your kits.  If not, one will be.  You have my apologies for that as well.

To give you a sense of perspective, in 2006 our study based on 2002 data estimated the cost of substance abuse including alcohol, tobacco and illegal drugs to be $39.9 billion per year annually of which illicit drugs alone account for $8.2 billion.

Just to make the first point, it is in the minority as it relates to legal drugs, and that is always a conundrum I know you have been brought to: legal versus illegal, but the costs are real in terms of illegal drugs.

If you can unbundle that $8.2 billion per year, you have in the order of direct health care costs $1.1 billion; direct law enforcement costs $2.3 billion; indirect cost, productivity losses are $4.6 billion and those are massive costs through suicide, overdose, deaths and therefore you cannot contribute to society on a long‑term basis, so $8.2 billion and these are conservative estimates in terms of direct and indirect health care and social costs.

Senator Wallace:  That was a result of analysis done in 2006? 

Mr. Perron:  Based on 2002 data.  This is our second study.  The previous study done in 1996 came up with a total of $20 billion.  So one might ask what are you doing for the number to keep going up like that, and that is where the strategies that I spoke to at the end of my presentation have now been put in place to try and mitigate for this.  It is a real and significant cost to society and, in many respects, a preventable one, hence why prevention is an important point of what we do.

Senator Wallace:  At page 8 of your presentation, you referred to the funding provided for treatment under the National Anti‑Drug Strategy from the federal program through to the provinces and territories and support for the recommendations in the National Treatment Strategy.

Do you have any analysis or summaries of those drug treatment prevention programs that have been funded through the National Anti‑Drug Strategy?

Ms. Jesseman:  The DTFP was recently introduced so most of the programs are still in development with Health Canada.  Many of the agreements with the provinces and territories have not been finalized.  I would guess there is no summary available yet, but you could probably contact Health Canada for a summary of what has been disseminated to date.

Mr. Perron:  I would add that if you look at the role of the federal government as it relates to largely provincial and territorial services and treatment, there is a direct fund that is funding programs that are in their infancy.

The second tranche is going to the provinces to increase system-level performance.  There is a lot of money going to the provinces in terms of transfer payments that ostensibly goes to treatment programs.  I could surmise that what the federal government wanted to do as part of the National Anti‑Drug Strategy is create a system where we can raise the benchmark.  

Can we measure outcome?  Can we tell if it is making a difference?  We have a paucity of data as it relates to treatment in terms of availability, efficacy, outcome and matching of need.  That is part and parcel of what the federal government is trying to put in that treatment pillar as part of the NADS.

Senator Wallace:  In funding those provincial efforts and dealing with treatment, do you have any sense of how broadly that is being dealt with across the country?  Is it focused only in one province, for example, or does it have a broad‑based application throughout the country? 

Mr. Perron:  I think Health Canada could probably provide a definitive answer.  However, my understanding anecdotally in speaking with colleagues from the provinces is that it is fairly widespread.  The provinces are taking full advantage of it.  

As importantly, this national treatment strategy that my colleagues here develop with the provinces and territories to say if we are going to deal with treatment in this country, how best to do it, this was the result of that product.  We now have to put that into place.  

Interestingly, the federal government modelled its terms and conditions for its funding for the provinces along the lines of the treatment strategy here.  You have a harmonization of what federal dollars are available with what the provinces and territories and not‑for‑profits are saying we need to do in treatment.  Ideally, it will help make that system operational.

Senator Wallace:  There is a consistency in objectives at the federal‑provincial‑territorial levels to try to get to some common end results, as opposed to each of them going off in their own direction. 

Mr. Perron:  I would agree with that, but I cannot say definitively that is the federal government's position as I am not the federal government.

Senator Watt:  I am going to try to cover the area that deals with the substance abuse.  This is an area that concerns me the most, especially coming from the North.

I appreciate the fact that you point out in your presentation one of the areas that I have been focusing on.  For your information, I am not only concerned with the Nunavut aspects of it; it is Nunavut, including Labrador and the Inuvialuit on the western side.

There are no facilities available in the North, regardless whether it is Nunavut, Nunavik, Labrador or the Inuvialuit side.  However, we do have medical services' studies being provided for general purposes, for Medicare purposes.  You mentioned in your presentation that housing also is one of the factors that need to be looked at seriously.  I am trying to address what you call the rehabilitation aspects of it and the criminalities on the one hand.

In terms of accessing the facilities in both areas, that does not exist.  For that reason, our young people have to leave their homes and be brought to the south, where they become part of the bigger picture in the penitentiaries.  What I have been hearing from the witnesses before you, from people that have responsibilities determining what is happening in the correctional institutes, they have all indicated that numbers are increasing.  My point is how do we keep those people away from those institutions – the federal penitentiaries or even the provincial penitentiaries?   

I know the people who were making the presentations were trying their best to stay away from the word "discrimination."  Personally, it is hard for me to believe that discrimination still exists in this country, but nevertheless it does.

If that is the big factor in the way that the Aboriginal people, especially the Inuit, are not being properly treated, what is the better way from your point of view?  It is easy to say let us keep them away from those institutions; but on the other hand, we do not have any facilities at this point.  

Where do we put our emphasis in terms of Aboriginal people living in the North to concentrate and realize that we have a special need?  Our special need cannot be answered by the south.  Our special need can only be answered by the North. 

I am talking in terms of even, if necessary, a private sector might have to get involved in terms of providing the facilities that are needed in the communities.  Down the road, government might have to come up with a different solution.  

Should we become more alarmed now as Aboriginal leaders in this country?  Otherwise, we are losing our people very quickly and the numbers are increasing in the penitentiaries.  If we do not do something, I do not know what the future holds.  Can you respond to that?

Mr. Perron:  The brevity of my answer will not reflect the seriousness of the situation.

First, many of your people who appear to give testimony of this nature for drug policy often present things in binary issues; either you do this or you do that.  Frankly, it is having to do a lot of different things at once.  That means to have prevention and education programs in place, to have access to treatment, to harm reduction and enforcement programs, but in a coherent whole.

A number of years ago, why those numbers kept going up is we had no plan for Canada writ large.  The provinces did one thing, the territories did another and the feds did another.  We created a national framework for action on how we should organize – who should do what and where.  What is the role of the territories versus the private sector versus the not‑for‑profit sector?

We came to agreement on how we should do that, and two key priorities emanated from that:  reaching out to the North and to First Nations, Inuit and Metis, understanding exactly the disproportionate impact on those communities.

In terms of your questions as to what to do, my personal commitment as head of CCSA is I have gone to the North and I have said I will not knowingly perpetuate what my predecessors have done, which is tell you how to fix your problems.  We are waiting to take our direction from the North.  

We created an elders committee a number of years ago that is guiding us to work with the key entities, such as ITK – the mental health program that ITK works with to bring in the key protagonists of the North, in particular, Nunavut and Labrador, in terms of how to deal with this issue.  

It has to start with prevention in many respects.  It speaks of prevention with hope.  You have to give hope to the people that there is an opportunity; you have to give them options.  It is more than just say no to drugs; it is say yes to what.  We have to give them options in that regard, real treatment options.  

The fact that they leave the North and come to Memasarbik
, which offers a fantastic, culturally appropriate program; the fact that they have to return to a community that does not necessarily have the wraparound services that you discuss – from housing, to job employment, job offers and the rest; we know there are many problems in the North.

I do not mean to paint an even bleaker picture.  It is important that we have the right people at the right table, all agreeing on how best to deal the issue, based on evidence and investment, based on stop doing what we know does not work and agreeing on a way forward.

At some level, we are getting there in terms of having the discussion and eliciting the solutions.  However, the long term will require an investment.  It will require transparency and accountability as to who should be doing what where.

That is part of the role that CCSA is trying to play.  However, we are doing so with tremendous respect to the ITK, all First Nations groups and their governance responsibilities, and to the elders, who are the ones who guide us in this area.  I am not sure if this answers the question. 

Senator Watt:  That partially answered my questions.  I guess it means we have a lot of things to think about in terms of where to go from here.

You mentioned the fact that there are various instruments that already exist through an organization like ITK.  We know that.  Some of those instruments are only beginning to start going in that direction and trying to find the solutions to the problems they are confronted with.

At the same time, they are totally disconnected from the lawmakers because they were not even asked to appear in front of the House of Commons standing committee that dealt with this subject matter.  They are kept at a distance and the changes are taking place.  They are not following the changes, so they cannot make an adjustment.

There is a sort of double standard.  I would like to address that.

Mr. Perron:  For many of those reasons you point out, ITK is a co‑chair of the national leadership team for the National Treatment Strategy.  We have reached out to them to work in a very concerted fashion with the provinces and among everybody who is trying to create this coherent National Treatment Strategy for Canada in ensuring there is the voice of the North, and Nunavut in particular, through ITK.

In terms of their relationship with parliamentarians, I leave that to you.  The need for political leadership, engagement and bringing these voices to the table here is required.

You also spoke of the issue of discrimination and stigma.  When we use that language, the world of addictions transcends all cultures.  The fact that you are a drug user is a stigmatizing factor that might diminish your ability to access the services you require.  You often hear the example that, if you are diabetic, you can go to hospital.  However, if you are a drug user, there is a problem.

The stigma of discrimination applies to all users and not one culture within it.  It is an important area to address.

Senator Watt:  The word discrimination is not necessarily coming from me directly but it is from the witnesses we have heard.  Apparently, in those institutions, when the person is being put away, I guess that a person is being exploited and disciplined, knowing the fact that person is disadvantaged.

The Chair:  There are two kinds of discrimination.  There is the one direct sort of personal discrimination, and then there is systemic discrimination.  Systemic discrimination is in harder to tackle, in some ways.

Mr. Perron:  We would welcome to opportunity any time to speak on this more specifically and give you a full briefing on what we are doing with the North.

Senator Watt:  I would appreciate that.

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Carignan:  Vous avez treate un peu du...) 

(après anglais) 

Le sénateur Carignan : Vous avez traité un peu de la conduite avec facultés affaiblies. C'est un exemple que je trouve intéressant parce que le problème existe ici. On peut prendre des exemples de l'extérieur, mais il faut toujours se méfier, car ce n'est pas toujours le même type de population avec la même culture. 

L'alcool est un problème de dépendance comme la toxicomanie. Il y a eu des amendements au Code criminel qui imposaient des peines minimales. Il y avait tout un ensemble de mesures, un peu comme la stratégie sur le plan des drogues, pour la conduite avec facultés affaiblies. Le fait d'avoir des peines minimales connues a permis de les publiciser et cela a eu un effet dissuasif. Quand on n'a pas de peine minimale fixe, c'est difficile de publiciser la peine. Ici, il a été possible de le publiciser. On a accès à des traitements. On sait qu'il y a eu une diminution des conduites avec facultés affaiblies de façon importante. 

Est‑ce qu'il existe des études sur la conduite avec facultés affaiblies qui présenteraient des chiffres avant l'entrée en vigueur de la peine minimale? Y a-t-il des données sur les gens qui ont été forcés de suivre des traitements et sur les taux de réussite — avec la notion de réussite un peu vague, tel que le sénateur Nolin l'a souligné plus tôt? Avez‑vous vraiment approfondi ces éléments de conduite avec facultés affaiblies? 

M. Perron : Je vais demander à mes collègues de répondre. Cependant, dans un premier temps, je peux vous dire que le succès que nous avons eu sur le plan national quant à la question de conduite avec facultés affaiblies fait en sorte qu'il y a un alignement, non seulement avec des partenaires des gouvernements fédéral, provincial et territorial, entre autres, mais un alignement de répression, un alignement de prévention et d'éducation. C'était un changement sociétal. La conduite avec facultés affaiblies n'est pas permissible dans notre société. Tout le monde allait dans la même direction pour tenter de régler cette problématique.

C'est lorsqu’il y a un alignement de toutes ces forces — prévention, éducation, traitement, réadaptation et répression — que nous voyons un changement important. C'est un peu ce qu'on essaie de faire avec le Cadre national sur les toxicomanies qui va rejoindre tous ces éléments pour les drogues. C'est un succès dont on devrait s'inspirer. 

Concernant les données précises que vous avez demandées, je vais demander à ma collègue Amy de vous répondre. Elle connaît cet aspect mieux que moi.

(Ms. Porath‑Waller : I am not familiar with any specific...) (anglais suit) 
 (Following French ‑‑ Mr. Perron ‑‑ ...qui que connesu que moi.) 

Amy Porath‑Waller, Senior Research and Policy Advisor, Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse:    I am not familiar with any specific studies.  However, one of my colleagues at CCSA was involved in a report looking at the mandatory programs for impaired driving.  I would be happy to follow up and provide you that document.

The one addition I would like to make to my colleague's comment is that one reason we have been so successful in reducing rates of drinking and driving is because there has been significant investment into the prevention of this issue.

Over the past two decades, there have been many prevention campaigns and a significant investment.  We are starting to see strides in that with respect to drug‑impaired driving.  However, there are studies that document that the prevention efforts we have been investing have had effects on reducing rates of drug‑impaired driving.

(French follows ‑‑ Mr. Perron:  La réussite d’un programme...) 

(après anglais) 

M. Perron : La réussite d'un programme de traitement n'est pas nécessairement reliée à la façon dont on s'est présenté pour le traitement. Donc, le traitement coercitif — si on peut l'appeler ainsi — a autant de succès qu’un traitement offert à quelqu'un qui se présente volontairement.

À l'occasion d'une arrestation ou d'une incarcération, si vous avez un problème, on devrait vous acheminer vers le programme de traitement approprié. Par traitement « approprié », on entend un traitement qui va focaliser sur des données probantes de votre condition pour voir comment mieux traiter le problème.

Il arrive qu’on refuse un traitement à des gens parce qu’ils ont ces attributs. Si le projet de loi va de l'avant tel quel, il faut s’assurer que les programmes de traitement et de réadaptation en place puissent être offerts à cette clientèle particulière. C'est essentiel parce que cela fait partie de l'esprit de la loi. Il faut que le système soit en place pour offrir de l’aide à une personne qui en a besoin.

Le sénateur Carignan : Cela fait partie des statistiques que j’aimerais avoir. L'idée populaire — en tout cas la mienne —, c’est que la personne devait elle‑même faire la démarche et que tant qu'elle n'était pas convaincue qu'elle avait un problème et qu'elle devait se faire traiter, les chances de succès étaient amoindries.

Je vois, selon votre témoignage, que ce n'est pas nécessairement le cas. 

D'autres témoins ont indiqué que parfois la détention était ce qui avait déclenché la décision de suivre un traitement et que celui-ci avait eu un certain succès. Par conséquent, le fait demeure et il doit exister des statistiques.

M. Perron : Nous tenterons de trouver ces statistiques. Que la menace d'emprisonnement soit un élément motivateur, soit. Toutefois, cela ne veut pas dire qu’on doive emprisonner les personnes. Il suffit de leur fournir les services nécessaires.

La présidente : Avant de passer au deuxième volet, j’aimerais vous demander de nous faire parvenir tous les documents pertinents aux questions du sénateur Carignan. Vous pouvez les envoyer à la greffière du comité.

Par contre, nous avons déjà l'étude de mars 2006 sur les coûts à laquelle vous faisiez référence. On pourra la faire circuler aux membres du comité. Vous n’avez donc pas besoin de la produire.

Le sénateur Carignan : Ma question porte justement sur cette étude. Nous examinerons, certes, mais je ne suis pas certain qu’elle saura répondre à ma prochaine question. A-t-on calculé les coûts indirects liés, par exemple, à la perte de productivité? Une personne qui devient schizophrène ou qui souffre d’une maladie mentale suite à une consommation importante encourra des pertes de revenus et de productivité jusqu'à la fin de ses jours. Ce facteur a-t-il été pris en considération dans les calculs?

M. Perron : Les coûts liés à la perte de productivité ont été calculés en se basant sur le nombre d'années perdues dans les cas de mortalité. Ils ne se sont pas nécessairement basés sur des conditions telles que vous avez suggérées

Le sénateur Carignan : Handicapantes?
M. Perron : Exactement. Il y a quand même une limite aux données actuelles.

Le sénateur Carignan : On parle donc de décès prématurés, soit avant d’avoir atteint l'espérance de vie normale.

M. Perron : Une jeune personne qui, après avoir consommé de l'alcool, se tue en frappant un arbre représente un coût X ou Y à la société en fait de contribution perdue. Ces calculs sont difficiles. Lorsqu'on parle de drogues illicites, les coûts sont estimés à 8,2 milliards de dollars par année. L'alcool représente un montant global de 14,5 milliards de dollars par année.

Le sénateur Carignan : Avez‑vous étudié la situation au Portugal? On dit que les consommateurs de drogues illicites sont plus susceptibles de commettre des crimes. Dans votre présentation, on parle de 21,7 p. 100 des cas, et lorsqu'on exclut le cannabis, on parle plutôt de 37,5 p. 100 des cas. Le nombre de consommateurs semble donc proportionnel au taux de criminalité. Je suis surpris de constater un pays où les statistiques montrent que le nombre de consommateurs diminue alors que le taux de criminalité augmente. Vous êtes-vous penché sur la situation particulière du Portugal?

M. Perron : Je ne l’ai pas fait, personnellement. Je demanderai à mes collègues, s’ils le désirent, d’apporter une précision sur l'interprétation des données que vous venez de citer.

(Ms. Jesseman: There may be a misunderstanding…)

(anglais suit)

(Following 1220) 

(Following French ‑ Mr. Perron ‑ juste a lire.)

Ms. Jesseman:  There may be a misunderstanding.  That paragraph speaks to harms experienced, not to crime.

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Carignan:  On parle donc des méfaits…)

(après anglais)

Le sénateur Carignan : On parle donc des méfaits?

M. Perron : On parle des méfaits commis envers les personnes mêmes.

Le sénateur Carignan : Ces actes ne se sont pas traduits nécessairement en accusations criminelles?

M. Perron : Non.

Le sénateur Carignan : On ne peut donc pas établir de liens.

M. Perron : En effet. Que l’on compare le Portugal à la Suède ou au Canada, chaque pays a sa situation. Il faut considérer les problèmes de même que les moyens législatifs et les programmes pour y remédier. 

Ces questions furent abordées lorsqu’on a traité du développement du cadre national. Au Canada, nous avons plusieurs éléments à prendre en considération. Il faut donc se demander comment aller de l'avant pour régler ce problème qui s'accroît. Voilà la stratégie qui en résulte.

Le sénateur Carignan : Je comprends qu’il faille être prudent avant de copier les modèles.

M. Perron : Absolument. De façon similaire, je ne dirais pas aux Suédois d’adopter nécessairement le modèle canadien. On peut s’inspirer des modèles en se basant sur des données probantes et comparables. La situation est toutefois différente dans chaque pays.

Le sénateur Rivest : Vous avez parlé, entre autres, de l’aspect répression. Est‑ce que la nature actuelle des sentences imposées par les tribunaux, soit sans peine minimale, selon vous a un impact significatif sur l'évolution de la consommation des drogues?

(Ms. Jesseman: In short, no. There has not been…)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French ‑ Senator Rivest ‑ le consummation des drugs?)

Ms. Jesseman:  In short, no.  There has not been a strong correlation demonstrated. 

Senator Rivest:  Thank you.

Senator Nolin:  Wait for the answer.

Ms. Jesseman:  I know my colleagues in Justice and at Statistics Canada can provide you with more figures on this.  However, in general studies there are not strong correlations between legislated penalties for drug crime and the commission of drug crime.

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Rivest:  Donc, à votre avis...)

(après anglais)

Le sénateur Rivest : Donc, à votre avis, l’imposition de sentences minimales ne semble pas nécessaire à l’amélioration du traitement des consommateurs de drogues?

M. Perron : D’après ce que je comprends du projet de loi, toute personne souffrant de toxicomanie qui se fait arrêter pour un crime commis se verra fournir de l’aide. À cet égard, le CCLAT souligne l’importance que ces traitements rejoignent les personnes qui en ont besoin. Qu’il s’agisse des tribunaux, des TTT ou des programmes provinciaux, dès que l’on ouvre la porte pour aider ces personnes appréhendées souffrant d’un problème de toxicomanie, on doit s’assurer que le système de traitement soit en place avant d'imposer une peine minimale qui imposera un tel traitement, sinon on contrevient à l’esprit de la loi.

À mon avis, l’esprit de la loi dit qu’on devrait aider ceux qui ont un problème de toxicomanie. Par contre, ceux qui en profitent commercialement devraient être punis.

Le sénateur Joyal : J’aimerais revenir sur cet aspect du projet de loi, qui semble être dans votre domaine de votre compétence.

Comme vous l’avez bien indiqué, il existe deux façons pour un usager de drogues de se réhabiliter. Celui-ci peut comparaitre devant une cour spécialisée. Il en existe six dans cinq provinces canadiennes. Elles sont toutes en Ontario et dans l'Ouest. On n’en retrouve aucune au Québec, dans les quatre provinces de l'Atlantique ni dans les trois territoires. Dans ce cas, on tombe sous l'autre option.

M. Perron : En effet.

Le sénateur Joyal : Qui est celle de l'article 722 du code, qui se lit comme suit.

(Sen. Joyal : It states : …to attend a treatment program…)

(anglais suit).

 (Following French ‑ Senator Joyal continuing ‑ l'article 720(2) du code.)

It states:  

. . . to attend a treatment program approved by the province under the supervision of the court, such as an addiction treatment program or a domestic violence counselling program.

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Joyal continuing ‑‑ Combien de ces programmes...)

(après anglais)(Sén. Joyal)

Combien de ces programmes ont été approuvés par la province ou le territoire?

M. Perron : Je ne peux répondre à cette question, à moins que mes collègues puissent m’aider. Les façons d’approuver ces programmes varient selon les provinces. Certains programmes sont approuvés car les traitements sont subventionnés par le gouvernement. 

En Ontario, par exemple, si on ne peut traiter une personne qui se présente avec un problème de toxicomanie, on l’enverra bien souvent suivre sont traitement aux États-Unis ou dans une autre province.

Évidemment, le manque de capacité est important pour les personnes qui ont recours à ces services aujourd'hui. Pour augmenter le nombre de clients potentiels pour ces services par l'entremise d'une voie judiciaire, cela requiert un investissement important. C'est pour cela qu'on vous suggère : autant il y a un élément dans le projet de loi pour l'évaluation dans deux ans, autant on devrait faire une évaluation immédiatement, un suivi en temps réel, pour s'assurer que si, en effet, il y a toutes sortes de personnes qui seraient de bons candidats pour ces programmes, s’il n'y a pas de programmes, on devrait le savoir plus tôt que plus tard. Si on revient à l'esprit de la loi qui est si vous avez besoin d'aide, on va vous la fournir, il est certain que l'aide doit être là. On pourrait vous donner quand même une liste de programmes de traitements dans les provinces qui sont bien établis, financés et évalués, mais la liste en tant que telle de programmes qualifiés, nous ne l’avons pas.

(Mrs. Notarandrea : I would add...)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French ‑‑ Mr. Perron ‑‑ ... nous ne l’avons pas.) 

Rita Notarandrea, Deputy Chief Execuive Officer, Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse:  I would add that a number of addiction programs in hospitals do have to undergo accreditation.  There are a number of them.  There is the Canadian Council on Health Services Accreditation
.  There are standards associated with addictions.  We do have those sorts of programs which have passed the accreditation standards. 

Senator Joyal:  Therefore, you would have a list of those certified programs, and you would have it by province and territory.  Even in the provinces where there are drug courts, such courts are normally located in a large city.  However, there are drug problems that exist outside of main cities.  Let us take British Columbia, as an example.  I am sure our colleague, Senator Campbell, could identify many cities than Vancouver in which there are a significant number of drug users who should have access to that program.

In other words, even with a drug court system in six cities in Canada, it does not even cover the whole of the territory within one city.

The first option does not cause a problem; drug courts are known.  However, the second one seems to be more or less a very far away outreach objective.  I have couched that in the most positive terms.  From page seven of your brief
, provincial treatment options, you say:  ". . .there are currently significant gaps in treatment capacity across Canada that will pose barriers to any increase in clients referred from the criminal justice system."

I understand that there are probably waiting lists because there are limited resources.

You go on to state that ". . .many community‑level programs exclude clients for whom treatment participation is a condition under the criminal justice system."  In other words, they do not want to have criminals.  That is another barrier.

Third, you state:  "The services that are in fact available vary considerably from one location to another."  You come back to your point:  "We do not currently have a clear picture of what services are available or how many people are currently accessing them across Canada."  In other words, we are moving within unknown territory.

I then read your report, A Systems Approach to Substance Use in Canada:  Recommendations for a National Treatment Strategy
.  The first recommendation is investing resources and developing infrastructures to ensure that the services and support required within each tier are available in all jurisdictions.

There is a question of money.  All that will remain at the good intentions level.  However, in practical terms, nothing will change tomorrow morning if that bill is passed by Parliament.

Mr. Perron:  You have summarized the situation quite well. 

If the premise of this is to reach those who need help, then that is wonderful.  Let me back up, if I might.  Hopefully, we have many intervening points with individuals with drug problems far before they come before the criminal justice system.  We have to remember there is a long list of those at times.

For those who do come face to face, if there is an opportunity, we would rather see those people get help than go to jail.  It would be the spirit of the act, as I read it, and the intent of the government to also have that and to make two avenues available for it.

The federal government's closest area of control is the Drug Treatment Courts, given that they fund them.  They are very new.  You have heard testimony on their efficacy and where they should be going.  Immediately we know there are exclusion factors in the Drug Treatment Courts who prohibit people who, by nature of getting there because of aggravating circumstances, cannot have admissibility.  As a policy decision for recommendation, the federal government should at least open up the opportunity for their Drug Treatment Courts to allow thee clients to access their programs because, by nature of the act, they are putting them there.  I say "their" because the federal government is funding them. 

There is no question that there is a gap in terms of availability of and need for provincially‑mandated programs.  We have to bridge it.  I go back to my response to the senator from the North, Senator Watt.  It is not "either/or;" we have to do these things together.  If there is a capacity issue, can we increase the capacity?  That said, there must be a proper hand‑off between the federal government and provinces as to how you do that.

Again, the premise stands.  We are happy with it as a point of access for treatment but the treatment system must be there to accommodate them. 

The Chair:  The longer this goes on, the more fascinating it get.

I will ask for supplementaries and then we can return after that. 

Senator Wallace:  On a point of clarification, Senator Joyal raised the issue of the provincial treatment programs.  Mr. Perron, I think you said – or I took from what you said – that you have a list of provincial treatment programs throughout the country.  I thought you said you were prepared to provide that.  I am not sure if we took Mr. Perron up on his offer.  If there is any uncertainty, I wanted to be clear about that.

Senator Joyal:  Any serious offer is not refused.

Mr. Perron:  To be clear on what I offered, we have a listing of treatment services available in provinces.  That is not to say that these are accredited, approved services as defined by the section of the act, cited by the code or Bill C‑15.  However, it is a starting point.

The Chair:  We would be pleased to receive any information you have.  You can send it to the clerk, and sooner rather than later.

Mr. Perron:  You will have it by the end of the day.

Senator Wallace:  Good.

Senator Baker:  You understand what happens in province where there is no treatment program?  I will use the example of Newfoundland and Labrador.  A judge in a sentencing hearing will entertain a submission that someone is accepted to a treatment program, either funded by the public through social services or funded by that person themselves in the Province of New Brunswick.

There does not appear to be any consistency in the identification of these programs that are acceptable to the court.

In the study that you will do to come up with these institutions, would you have a look at the case law?  See what provinces recognize the other provinces.  Provide us with any material that deals with justice, fairness or charter elements recognizing certain provinces and the North are subjected to that kind of rationale.  There does not appear to be a consistent policy nationally as to which institutions are recognized under section 722.

Mr. Perron:  We will do our best to do that for you, senator.

Having said that, there might be limitations to what you will receive from us.  We will likely go on the basis of what provinces deem as an appropriate program for which they can bill against.  We will go to our provincial and territorial colleagues for that.

There is some practice, as you know, in Newfoundland.  CCSA or the system must do a better job in educating judges, Crown counsel and defence in terms of what are drug addictions and why these people are before them.  They need to better understand the follow through from the criminal justice system.  That is an aside we took away from this that we should do.

Senator Baker:  And the cost of actually getting accepted.

Senator Joyal:  You will provide us with a list of the treatment programs that exist by province.  If you have information that qualifies those programs recognized by the court, will you provide that to us also?

Mr. Perron:  To be clear, we will get that cue from the provinces.  We will interact with the group we work with on the treatment side and, perhaps, contact Health Canada.  We will do our best to pull it together as quickly as we can. 

Senator Joyal:  A conclusion in your brief on page 8 states:  "Ensuring comprehensive system development to provide those services, without reducing the services available to the public . . . .
"

Have you any idea of the magnitude of the public investment that should be made to reach the objective of the act?  

I do not say to do it in one year, but within a reasonable period of time, for example, three to five years.   

Ms. Notarandrea:  We had a number of research experts involved in this report.  We contracted out a particular piece of work to arrive at that very figure.  In the end, because of all the factors involved, it was not possible.

What you see in the report is that we cannot have everyone with an addiction problem access specialized services only.  We must ensure that the rest of the system has the tools they need to be able to screen and to intervene.  Those in the most need and the most complex, which we are talking about here, have access to the top of the tier.  Only those people should be accessing those specialized services that deal with mental health and addictions.  If we can equip the rest of the system to deal with those clients before they ever hit the judicial system, we would have done our best in terms of the treatment system.  

The simple answer to your question is that we attempted to do that, and it was impossible.

Senator Joyal:  Have you any ballpark figures?  Do we have to multiply existing resources by five, 10 or 20?  Have you an idea of the magnitude of the effort that should be made?

Ms. Notarandrea:  We do not.  However, if you have the three tranches that we have spoken about in prevention services, rather than looking at what the current system looks like, perhaps we could make a dent in the numbers that would require treatment in the future.  There were too many factors to consider in the population itself to come up with one answer.

We did try to do that for this report. 

Mr. Perron:  The demonstrable costs associated with illicit drugs alone are approximately $8 billion per year.  If we want to address that in an efficient and productive matter, it should be our first clue as to the commensurate investment required.

As to the actual number, if we were to undertake a rolling evaluation of the impact of this bill in access to the system, we could possibly look at scaling that on a real-time basis.  That takes work and coordination over who will do what.  We cannot assume that all services are as efficient as they could be.  

Other questions are how best to stream along the different service lines and what is the gap and who should provide it.  Without those answers, to suggest a specific number to you would be inappropriate given the lack of that data at this point.  All we know is that there is a gap.

The Chair:  We are talking about a lot of money.  However, it may be money that would be invested extremely profitably.

Mr. Perron:  The last person who asked me that question in this room was Senator Kirby as part of his "Out of the Shadows" study.  There is a compelling business case before you if you apply that lens to the kind of investment required.

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Nolin ‑‑ En ce qui concerne)

(après anglais) 

Le sénateur Nolin : En ce qui concerne l'usage thérapeutique du cannabis, avez‑vous des données empiriques quant au nombre de Canadiens qui utilisent du cannabis à des fins thérapeutiques, qu'ils s'en procurent en utilisant la voie réglementaire ou non pour y avoir accès? 

(Mr. Perron : Yes, it all depends on the question...)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French ‑‑ Senator Nolin ‑‑ pour y avoir accès?)

Mr. Perron:  Yes, it all depends on the question.  If you extrapolate the numbers and do the calculations from the last question posed by the Canadian addictions survey, approximately one million Canadians indicated that they had used an illicit substance for "therapeutic" benefit in the past year.  That is the order of magnitude.

Senator Nolin:  I am more interested in the order of magnitude than a specific number.

Mr. Perron:  With the caveat, however, if you asked a question where the wording was fairly broad and undistinguishable about how many people consumed alcohol for therapeutic purpose, you would probably get as many people.  It does not necessarily mean it is the right use for therapeutic purposes.

Senator Nolin:  I am not saying that.

Mr. Perron:  Nor is it appropriate to suggest that cohort should be under Health Canada guidelines.  It simply says that a number of people reported it that way, but we did not repeat that question in the CADUMS data.  We felt it was spurious in its conclusion based on the way it was worded.  The result was possibly inflated or would give the wrong conclusion.  

It is something we should consider looking at, but the data is dodgy at this point in terms of the number.

Senator Nolin:  There are slightly fewer than 5,000 Canadians who are using the regulatory process to access marijuana.  There is a multiplier of unknown magnitude ‑‑ I do not know the number ‑‑ of Canadians using self‑medicating cannabis for therapeutic reasons, and they believe it.  I am sure you can provide us with those numbers.

Mr. Perron:  Yes.  We will provide that to the committee along with the question posed.

Senator Nolin:  I am also interested in the prevalence of users and traffickers.  Do you have such numbers because the bill we have in front of us may capture those people? 

Ms. Porath-Waller:  I have prevalence figures on the percentage of Canadians using cannabis.  In the 2004 data, 14.1 per cent reported using at least once in the past year.  This corresponds to about 3.6 million Canadians aged 15 and older.  In the 2008 CADUMS data, there was 11.4 per cent of Canadians aged 15‑years and older reporting use at least once.

Senator Nolin:  That is the users.  If you add the users to the traffickers ‑‑ those trafficking to fund their use ‑‑ do you have that information?

Ms. Porath-Waller:  I do not have that data with me, but we could provide it.

Senator Nolin:  Your earlier answer gave me the impression that you probably had the answer.

Ms. Jesseman:  I should qualify that I am pulling it from the same source that the earlier testimony from the Canadian
 Centre for Justice Statistics would have used, so you should have this data in your packages.

Senator Nolin:  They were not dealing with users; you are.  I was waiting to ask you that question.

Ms. Jesseman:  This is again going back to the police reported offences.  The rate for trafficking is 24.1 per 100,000 for cannabis, and is 206.3 overall for possession of illicit substances; and production importations and exportation, and again this is illicit substances, overall at 27.8.

The Chair:  We do not know how many traffickers are users and vice versa? 

Mr. Perron:  We do not know precisely.  Not all users are traffickers and not all traffickers are users.  Where in between they meet and what that cohort looks like is the question. 

Senator Nolin:  The specific section of Bill C‑15 will affect those people.  At least section 10 (4) and (5) will apply to those people.

Mr. Perron:  The only data we could look to are arrest statistics, which at that point is probably underestimating the number, given the plea‑outs and so forth ahead of time.  We can try to extrapolate a figure.  It will likely come with a long list of caveats, but it will give you an order of magnitude.  It will not necessarily be the definitive point on which a decision is made, but will add to the general body of knowledge to help the committee.

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Carignan, Mme Jesseman, le sénateur Rivest a posé une question) 

 (après anglais, general body of knowledge to help the committee.) 

Le sénateur Carignan : Mme Jesseman, le sénateur Rivest a posé une question sur l'effet dissuasif des peines.  Vous y avez répondu par un oui ferme. J'aimerais que l'on clarifie ce oui.  

Pour qu'une peine ait un effet dissuasif, elle doit selon moi être connue. La connaissance de la peine amène alors un changement de comportement. Si je prends l'exemple de conduite automobile en état d'ébriété, laquelle est criminalisée, les peines qui en découlent sont très bien publicisées. Peu de gens ne savent pas que c'est criminel. Cela a résulté en une diminution de la conduite avec alcool au volant. 

J'ai posé une question à Me Joncas, spécialiste en droit criminel, lors de sa comparution au comité hier à savoir quel était le pourcentage de ses clients qui connaissaient la peine pour laquelle ils étaient susceptibles d'être sanctionnés s'ils étaient reconnus coupables. Elle a esquissé un maximum de 2 p. 100, ce qui suggère que 98 p. 100 de gens ne la connaissent pas. 

Autre exemple, en Californie, suite à l'adoption de la Loi sur les trois fautes, qui a aussi été très publicisée également, on a vu une diminution des taux de criminalité pour la même période. 

Alors les études sont contradictoires. Existe‑t‑il des études ou des sondages qui évaluent l'importance de la connaissance de la sanction par rapport à son effet dissuasif sur la récidive? Quand vous répondez oui, cela tient‑il compte du taux de connaissance des gens sur cette sanction? Est‑ce la faible proportion qui connaît la sanction qui dit qu'elle n’est pas influencée ou est‑ce l'ensemble du tableau?   
(Mrs. Jesseman : I would just like to clarify. In my earlier response to senator Rivest...)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French, influencée ou est‑ce l'ensemble du tableau?   )

Ms. Jesseman:  I would like to clarify, in my earlier response to Senator Rivest I intended to state that there is not a clearly established relationship between sentence severity and dissuasion of criminal activity.  I want to be clear on that.

I agree that in the criminological research there are three contributing factors to deterrence.  Bill C‑15 is clear about the concept of deterrence when it comes to the mandatory minimum sentences and denunciation, but if we want to effectively deter crime, people have to know about it.  There has to be certainty, severity and
 celerity, so that means people have to be certain that they will receive punishment.  That speaks more to enforcement.  Severity speaks to the mandatory minimum sentences, which would be an example of severity, but severity cannot act alone without that knowledge of increased probability of receiving that punishment.  There also has to be celerity, which means the immediacy of punishment.  That means essentially a court process that is quick and responsive, and also quick in responsive access to quality treatment.  It would have to be very much part of a comprehensive package to be effective.

(French follows ‑‑ Le sénateur Carignan : La publicité est incluse?)

(après anglais, part of a comprehensive package to be effective.) 

Le sénateur Carignan : La publicité est incluse? 

(Mrs. Jesseman : Absolutely, that would have to be a major part of it...)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French, Le sénateur Carignan : La publicité est incluse?) 

Ms. Jesseman:  Absolutely.  That would have to be a major part of it.  In terms of studies of awareness of punishments associated with criminality, I admit this is going back to my undergraduate studies, but at the time, any studies that I recall did not indicate there was a high level of awareness of punishments associated with criminal activity among those engaged in criminal activity. 

(French follows ‑‑ Le sénateur Nolin : Cela fait longtemps que vous occupez) 

(après anglais, those engaged in criminal activity.) 

Le sénateur Nolin : Cela fait longtemps que vous occupez ce poste, M. Perron, alors vous êtes certainement à même d'informer le comité quant aux tendances sur l'usage au Canada sur une période de temps assez longue. Nous avons devant nous les données les plus récentes, soit 2004. L'autre étude aussi importante que vous avez réalisée avant remontait à quelle année? 

M. Perron : 1994.

Le sénateur Nolin : Pendant cette période de dix ans, les tendances sur l'usage à la fois des substances psychoactives légales, tabac et alcool, et illégales, le canabis étant la plus grande, ont grandement évolué. Qu'est‑ce qui peut avoir causé cela, d'après vous?

M. Perron : L'augmentation concernant la consommation d'alcool n'est pas autant à la hausse que les autres. Il y a toutes sortes de suggestions pour lesquelles on a vu une hausse, que ce soit la question de décriminalisation ou de la banalisation de la consommation des drogues. Pendant une période de temps, beaucoup de jeunes Canadiens pensaient que c'était légal ou qu'il n'y avait aucun effet nocif à consommer. La confusion au Canada et due au fait qu’on ne savait pas trop ce que voulait dire drogue ou si on devait ou non en prendre. Le manque de programmes de prévention ou d'éducation auprès des jeunes faisait défaut auparavant. 

Il y a toutes sortes de raisons qu’on pourrait pointer du doigt quant à la hausse de la consommation. Je ne peux pas vous dire vraiment quelles sont les raisons, mais je peux vous dire que non seulement la consommation, qui n’est qu’un côté de la médaille, connaît une hausse importante, mais aussi l’envers, les méfaits qui en dépendent. 

Le fait que 80 p. 100 des Canadiens consomment de l'alcool, c'est une statistique, mais quels méfaits en ressortent et où devrait-on cibler nos efforts pour en diminuer les méfaits que soit pour la santé sociale ou économique, est un point important. C'est sur ces données qu'on devrait se pencher à l'avenir. Qui est le mieux placé pour les traiter? C’est sur cette lancée que nous avons élaboré ce cadre national pour une vraie entente.

Toute route ne mène pas uniquement vers le fédéral. Il faut s'assurer que l’investissement soit bien coordonné au sein des paliers gouvernementaux, du secteur des ONG et du secteur privé. Cela doit se faire de façon transparente, évaluée et fondée sur des données probantes. 

Et c'est exactement la façon dont nous procéderons au cours des prochaines années.

La présidente : Merci infiniment.

(Présidente : This has been extremely interesting…)

(anglais suit)

(Following French ‑‑ The Chair continuing) 

This has been extremely interesting and helpful, as will be the information that you will send us.  We will circulate to committee members the study on costs. 

(The committee adjourned.)
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